IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA No. 19-1056

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA ex rel. PATRICK MORRISEY, ATTORNEY GENERAL,

Petitioner,

DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE

V.

DIOCESE OF WHEELING-CHARLESTON and MICHAEL J. BRANSFIELD in his capacity as former Bishop of the Diocese of Wheeling-Charleston,

Respondents.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF

PATRICK MORRISEY ATTORNEY GENERAL

Fax: (304) 558-0140

Email: Lindsay.S.See@wvago.gov

Lindsay S. See (WV Bar #13360)

Solicitor General

Counsel of Record

Douglas P. Buffington, II (WV Bar #8157)

Senior Deputy Attorney General

John M. Masslon II (WV Bar #13650)

Assistant Solicitor General

1900 Kanawha Blvd. East

Building 1, Room E-26

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- I. The circuit court's proposed answer to Certified Question 1 incorrectly concludes that Article 6 of the West Virginia Consumer Credit and Protection Act ("CCPA") does not apply to any religious institutions that sell or advertise educational or recreational services.
- II. The circuit court's proposed answer to Certified Question 2 incorrectly concludes that it is impossible to apply the CCPA against the Diocese of Wheeling-Charleston and former-Bishop Bransfield (collectively, "the Diocese") in this case without violating the First Amendment of the United States Constitution or the West Virginia Constitution.

INTRODUCTION

The CCPA prohibits unfair or deceptive acts or practices when advertising or selling any goods or services, including educational and recreational services. W. Va. Code §§ 46A-6-104, 46A-1-102(47). Advertisements based on false promises and sales that conceal or omit "any material fact" are squarely within the statute's reach. *Id.* § 46A-6-102(7)(I), (L), (M). Here, the State alleges that the Diocese did not deliver services it advertised and concealed facts critical to parents' decisions whether to send their children to the Diocese's fee-based schools and camps. Despite this straightforward CCPA case, the circuit court asks for a declaration that the CCPA never applies to religious schools and camps as a matter of statutory interpretation, and that the Constitution further prohibits any relief. The Court should reject both proposed answers.

First, the CCPA's plain meaning resolves certified question one. In a statute with multiple carve-outs and exemptions, the Legislature gave no hint that it meant to exclude from the CCPA schools and camps generally, nor religious schools and camps specifically. Quite the opposite: The Legislature specifically included "education" and "recreation" in its definition of "services." W. Va. Code § 46A-1-102(47). Further, other provisions of the West Virginia Code regulating education are no reason to set aside this text-based conclusion. The circuit court's approach flips

on its head the rule that generally applicable statutes like the CCPA are given their plain meaning unless in irreconcilable conflict with another, more specific statute—which is not true here.

Second, the First Amendment does not bar relief because the State's case expressly does not interfere with the Diocese's hiring decisions, employment policies, doctrines, or other internal affairs. The CCPA does not infringe religious freedom to the extent it requires religious schools and camps to avoid material misrepresentations when advertising and selling services to the general public. Premature fears that some of the injunctive remedies available under the CCPA in other contexts might raise constitutional concerns here are no basis to stop this litigation now. Because at least some of the remedies contemplated in this action do not raise these questions, the issue should be resolved at the remedies stage with the benefit of a full record.

Indeed, it would be especially inappropriate to cut off this action early because the information on which the State based its complaint is still developing. Without the State's investigative subpoenas the Diocese might not have published the names of priests credibly accused of child sexual abuse, and even today the Diocese has yet to release full information to the public about these issues. Adopting the circuit court's proposed answers would also have significant consequences for consumer-protection law beyond this case. The Court should reject the untenable conclusion that the CCPA is never a recourse for consumers who purchase educational and recreational services from religious entities, no matter how egregious the violation. And while the State strongly affirms religious freedom's paramount role in our society, ¹ it is not a shield for unfair and deceptive consumer transactions at the public's expense,

¹ See, e.g., Br. Amici Curiae of W. Va. et al., Am. Legion v. Am. Humanist Ass'n, 139 S. Ct. 2067 (2019) (No. 17-1717), 2018 WL 6819435; Br. Amici Curiae of Texas et al., Little Sisters of the Poor Home for the Aged v. Burwell, 136 S. Ct. 1557 (2016) (No. 15-105), 2015 WL 5029191.

STATEMENT

The two questions certified to this Court arise from the early stages of an action the State brought against the Diocese for violating the CCPA when advertising and selling educational and recreational services to the public. After an August 2018 Pennsylvania grand jury report detailing decades of sexual abuse by clergy and a pattern of concealment on the part of the Roman Catholic Church, the State began investigating related concerns in West Virginia. The State filed the underlying action in March 2019, which alleges three violations of the CCPA based on issues similar to those in the Pennsylvania report. The Diocese moved to dismiss the State's amended complaint, and the circuit court held oral argument on the motion in September 2019. On November 6, 2019, the circuit court certified the two questions on review and stayed further proceedings pending the Court's decision.

I. Facts As Alleged In The Underlying Action

The Diocese, normally overseen by a bishop, is comprised of parishes, schools, camps, and other entities located within the State of West Virginia. J.A. 58. The Diocese's former bishop, Michael J. Bransfield, retired in September 2018; the Pope ordered an investigation into allegations that Bishop Bransfield sexually abused adults while he was a bishop, and the report of that investigation has not been released to the public by the Roman Catholic Church. J.A. 56, 59. A purported, redacted copy shows that Bishop Bransfield sexually harassed adults and engaged in financial misconduct. See Report to Archbishop William E. Lori, available at https://wapo.st/2vUXl4m.

The Diocese advertises and sells educational and recreational services to parents of children in kindergarten through high school. Its six high schools and 19 elementary schools across the State serve more than 5,100 children. J.A. 57, 59. Yearly fees can be \$6,000 for the Diocese's

elementary schools and more than \$8,000 for high schools. J.A. 59. To encourage parents to enroll their children in diocesan schools, the Diocese sometimes provides partial scholarships and sometimes arranges financing for tuition costs through third parties. J.A. 59. The Diocese also sometimes finances tuition in-house through installment plans. J.A. 59. Behaving like any creditor, the Diocese has sued to enforce the terms of these agreements. J.A. 59, 180-90.

The Diocese advertises to the general public and accepts Catholic students to its schools and camps, as well as those of other faiths and denominations and those professing no faith. J.A. 58. The Diocese has advertised its educational and recreational services since at least 1974 through various media, including print, radio, television, billboards, and the internet. J.A. 58. It competes for children that might otherwise attend public or other private schools and camps. J.A. 58.

The Diocese adopted a "Safe Environment Program" following a conference of Catholic bishops in 2002. J.A. 60. The Safe Environment Program is meant to protect minors from abuse by the Diocese's religious and lay employees, as well as volunteers. The program includes background checks for employees and volunteers, policies relating to child sexual abuse, and awareness training for adults. J.A. 60. At times relevant to this action, the Diocese's website promised that "a safe learning environment is inherent in the mission of our Catholic schools," and that "[s]chool employees and volunteers must pass a national background check, [and] be fingerprinted and trained according to the Diocesan Safe Environment Policy (VIRTUS)." J.A. 60. These statements were removed after the State initiated this action. J.A. 61.

None of the Diocese's advertisements for its schools and camps disclosed that the Diocese sometimes employed priests and laity that had been convicted of, admitted to, or credibly accused of sexually abusing children. On November 29, 2018, after the State issued its first subpoena, the Diocese published a list of 18 priests the Diocese deemed to have been credibly accused of sexually

abusing children within the Diocese from around 1950 to the summer of 2018. J.A. 61. The list also named 13 priests employed by the Diocese that had been credibly accused of sexual abuse in another State. J.A. 61. That list has since grown to include 40 priests.

Bishop Bransfield and other former bishops of the Diocese Joseph Hodges and Bernard Schmitt knew of sexual abuse complaints against Diocese priests but did not disclose the conduct to law enforcement or parents paying for or otherwise considering the Diocese's educational or recreational services for their children. The Diocese has instead practiced a policy of concealing information about incidents of child abuse, despite a public letter in February 2003 that announced purported changes to diocesan policies regarding sexual abuse of children and expressly promised the Diocese would not "enter into confidentiality agreements in the future so that the truth may be known to all." J.A. 61. The Diocese did not follow this policy under Bishop Bransfield's direction; notes from a former Diocese Chancellor show that Bishop Bransfield refused to disclose incidents of sexual abuse unless the victim or the victim's family agreed. J.A. 62.

As one example, in 2006 the Diocese was made aware that a teacher at a Kanawha County school had sexually abused a student for the previous two academic years. J.A. 62. Bishop Bransfield directed an investigation into the claims on behalf of the Diocese, which revealed that the teacher groomed the teenage student by providing the student with alcohol and prescription drugs. J.A. 62. Parents of other students at the school were never advised of this abuse, even though the school's Safe Environment Coordinator recommended making the information public to help ensure that other students had not been abused by the same teacher. J.A. 63.

The Diocese concealed other behavior of admitted child sex abusers as well. In 1995 a priest working at the St. Joseph Preparatory Seminary high school in Vienna, West Virginia was accused of sexually abusing a student in the past. J.A. 64-65. The priest, Patrick Condron,

admitted the allegations when confronted by diocesan leadership. J.A. 65. Nevertheless, after some time Bishop Schmitt returned Condron to active ministry, first at a parish in Wheeling and later at Wheeling Catholic Elementary School from 1998-2001. J.A. 65. The Diocese did not advise parents of children at the school that it employed an individual who admitted to abusing a student, neither at the time nor for years later. J.A. 65.

Victor Frobas was also employed by the Diocese after being credibly accused of sexually abusing a child in another jurisdiction. Frobas had been asked to leave the Philadelphia seminary system because of the complaint, and then-Bishop Hodges agreed to give Frobas a second chance in the Diocese. J.A. 66-67. Among other positions, Frobas was chaplain of the Catholic Committee on Scouting in 1969, the Diocesan Director of Scouting in 1971, and the director of a summer youth camp—now known as Camp Bosco—from 1972 until early 1976. J.A. 67. Frobas was accused of sexually abusing children, again, while directing the camp. J.A. 67. After a leave of absence, Frobas was returned to work as a chaplain in Wheeling in 1976 and then as chaplain at Wheeling Central Catholic High School in 1977. J.A. 67. The Diocese allowed Frobas to take another leave of absence after yet more allegations of abuse in 1978. J.A. 67. In 1980 he was assigned to a church in Weirton that operates an elementary school, and was also placed in charge of the church's Boy Scout troop. J.A. 68. Once again, Frobas used his position to harm children by taking students out of class and sexually abusing them in the rectory. J.A. 68. The Diocese finally suspended Frobas in 1987, the same year he pled guilty and agreed to a five-year prison sentence for inappropriate contact with two minors during a leave of absence in 1983. J.A. 68-69.

These are only some examples of the Diocese refusing to disclose credible allegations of child sexual abuse to parents, even where the Diocese continued to place priests in positions involving children after the allegations or admissions. Some incidents came to light only years later, after the State began its investigation, through the 2018 list of credibly accused priests.

The Diocese also has not lived up to its public statements when advertising its programs that it conducts background checks for all employees and priests as part of the Safe Environment Program. For at least 15 years, the Diocese represented to consumers that it employs a rigorous screening and training process for all personnel and volunteers at its camps and schools. J.A. 60, 64. Nevertheless, the Diocese did not ensure that these processes were followed before allowing employees and volunteers to work with children at its schools and camps.

As one result of this failing, the Diocese employed a convicted sex offender at Madonna High School in Weirton because of an inadequate background check. This individual failed to disclose on his 2011 employment application that he had been convicted of third-degree statutory rape in Washington. J.A. 71-72. The Diocese did not discover this information until 2013, after the individual had been working at the high school for over two years. J.A. 72. The Diocese terminated the individual's employment after finally conducting a background check that disclosed the criminal conduct. J.A. 72.

The Diocese also delegated background checks to local parishes and schools, yet failed to verify that they performed the required procedures before placing employees and individuals in positions with children. J.A. 70-72. As of May 2008, background checks had not been performed for as many as 22 employees and volunteers who had worked at a single school in Kanawha County the prior year. J.A. 71. The Diocese continued to advertise its universal background check policy during this time and after, even though Bishop Bransfield was personally aware that the background checks had not been done. J.A. 71. Still another individual never received a criminal background check or completed the advertised VIRTUS training, yet was allowed to hold positions

at schools in Cabell County from 2004 to 2016, including serving as a chaperone on overnight trips and a guest teacher. J.A. 71.

II. Procedural History

On the basis of the examples described above and similar allegations, the State sued the Diocese of Wheeling-Charleston and Bishop Bransfield under the CCPA in March 2019. J.A. 3. As amended, the complaint asserts three claims under Article 6 of the CCPA: failure to deliver advertised services, failure to warn of dangerous services, and unfair methods of competition. J.A. 74-78 (citing W. Va. Code § 46A-6-102(7)(I), (L), (M)). The State requested appropriate equitable relief, which can include a declaration that the Diocese violated the CCPA and an injunction against violating the CCPA moving forward, as well as civil penalties. J.A. 78. The State also expressly affirmed the Diocese's right "to select priests and other employees who advance its religious mission, and [its] freedom to act pursuant to its doctrinal tenets." J.A. 57. The amended complaint states that nothing in it "should be construed as an attempt to modify or interfere with doctrinal matters and hiring decisions," J.A. 57, and that the circuit court should only grant relief that does not "modify[] or interfer[e] with doctrinal decisions, other internal church matters, or the Diocese's hiring and firing decisions," J.A. 78.

The Diocese filed a motion to dismiss the amended complaint, J.A. 86-89, and after briefing the circuit court heard argument on the motion in September 2019, J.A. 130. Two months later, the circuit court certified two questions to this Court.² J.A. 283-84. The first question asks

² As required for certification, the circuit court's order lists the two questions, then analyzes them and provides proposed answers. The order also, however, states that the court granted the Diocese's motion to dismiss. In light of this potential ambiguity, the State filed a protective notice of appeal in Case No. 19-1199 to preserve its appellate rights if this Court determines that the circuit court issued a final order dismissing the amended complaint rather than an interlocutory order, and thus the appropriate avenue for review is direct appeal. The Court granted the State's motion to hold the protective appeal in abeyance pending resolution of this appeal.

whether the CCPA's prohibition against unfair or deceptive acts or practices applies to "religious institutions in connection with their sale or advertisement of educational or recreational services." J.A. 283-84. The second asks whether applying the CCPA in this case violates the First Amendment. J.A. 284. The second question also references West Virginia's Constitution, but the circuit court's analysis proceeds entirely on federal-law grounds.

On the first question, the circuit court proposes that Article 6 does not reach religious schools or camps. In the court's view, the statute's definition of "services" is ambiguous, and other tools of statutory construction indicate that the Legislature did not intend to include religious schools or camps under this definition. The circuit court also relies on quasi-preemption analysis to conclude that West Virginia's overall scheme of regulating primary and secondary education precludes applying the CCPA to religious schools. J.A. 294-312. On the second question, the circuit court reasons that applying the CCPA in this case would violate the First Amendment's Religion Clauses because, in its view, any possible remedy for violating the CCPA would create an excessive entanglement with religion. J.A. 286-94.

The Court accepted the certified questions, ordered expedited briefing, and set this case for Rule 20 argument on May 19, 2020.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

- I. Article 6 of the CCPA applies to fee-based schools and camps, whether operated by a religious entity or not.
- A. The CCPA forbids unfair or deceptive acts or practices in "advertising, offering for sale, sale or distribution of any goods or services." W. Va. Code §§ 46A-6-104, 46A-6-102(6). A "service" includes "privileges with respect to . . . education [and] . . . recreation." *Id.* § 46A-1-102(47). Under their plain terms, these definitions show that the CCPA expressly includes consumer transactions related to schools and camps. And even assuming the definition of

"services" is ambiguous, the CCPA's structure and context, this Court's precedent, the Federal Trade Commission's policies, and decisions of other States interpreting similar statutes cut against the circuit court's proposed reading.

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