IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

DOCKET NO. 19-1056

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA ex rel., PATRICK MORRISEY, ATTORNEY GENERAL,

Petitioner,

VS.

DIOCESE OF WHEELING-CHARLESTON, and MICHAEL J. BRANSFIELD, in his capacity as former Bishop of the Diocese of Wheeling-Charleston,

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' Brief

Counsel of Record for Respondents

James C. Gardill, Esq. (WV Bar # 1335) Richard N. Beaver, Esq. (WV Bar # 6864) Phillips, Gardill, Kaiser & Altmeyer, PLLC 61 Fourteenth Street Wheeling, WV 26003 Phone: (304) 232-6810 Christopher A. Brumley, Esq. (WV Bar # 7697) Flaherty Sensabaugh Bonasso, PLLC 200 Capitol Street Charleston, WV 25301 Phone: (304) 347-4254

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In the forty-six-year history of the CCPA, there has never been an attempt at such a broad and expansive use of the CCPA. As the Circuit Court noted in its opinion, and as the AG previously acknowledged in this case, the AG principally relies on statements contained in the Diocese's website describing its Safe Environment Program posted first in 2014, administered by the Catholic Diocese under the Charter, as the "promises and representations" which he claims were breached. The AG acknowledged in its earlier filings, and the trial court concluded, that the examples of abuse contained in the AG's Amended Complaint are not themselves violations of the CCPA. The AG wraps these claims under a guise of a duty to warn, false advertising and

deceptive practices. Each of these issues deal with operational aspects of its schools, religious camps and churches and none of these deal with consumer transactions governed by the CCPA.

There are several fundamental flaws in the AG's claims. First, the claims rely on allegations of abuse which are many years, and even decades old, to claim that the Catholic School environment is currently unsafe. Second, the claims cannot be squared with the success of the current and ongoing safe environment program acknowledged in the Amended Complaint in Paragraphs 33 through 35. Third, although the AG includes camps in its claims, the safe environment language on the DWC's website relied upon by the AG does not include any language regarding camps; thus, there can be no claims related to camps. Fourth, the Amended Complaint fails to allege any specific consumer transaction but instead deals with the substantive educational services provided by the Church. Fifth, in order to pursue such claims, the AG and this Court, would necessarily have to first construe Church policy. Sixth, in order for the Diocese's safe environment language to constitute unfair methods of competition to competing private and public schools, the competing private and public schools would necessarily have to publish each and every unlawful conduct by its teachers, administrators, volunteers, etc. to each and every family qualified to attend the schools.\(^8\) They do not.

The AG makes no allegations within the four year look back period to show that the Diocese failed to provide a safe Catholic education to its students – the AG identified no parents making such a claim (§102(I)). The AG failed to identify any complaints of parents or any confused parents of Catholic School students (§102(L)). Finally, the AG failed to identify any

⁸ The public schools throughout the State of West Virginia have likewise faced numerous allegations of sexual abuse and violence, and there are a number of pending cases, including a recent case in Ohio County, as is evident from a cursory google search of the various State newspapers. As the AG does not recognize media coverage of sexual abuse allegations related to Catholic Schools as disclosures to families, and thus, media coverage related to public schools should also not be recognized. As the AG demands of Catholic Schools, public schools would be required to advise each and every parent or guardian of every sexual abuse or violence allegation at each school. Without such publication, public schools are guilty of the same unfair methods of competition as alleged against Catholic Schools.

Catholic School parents who relied on any alleged concealment of sexual abuse. (§102(M)).

Given the saturated news reports over the decades related to sexual abuse claims in the Church, the AG would be hard pressed to find any Catholic School parents who were not aware of the history.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Oral argument was originally scheduled for May 19, 2020 and was postponed.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY ANSWERED CERTIFIED QUESTION NUMBER 1 BY HOLDING THAT THE REMEDIES ARTICULATED BY THE AG EXCESSIVELY ENTANGLE THE STATE IN DIOCESAN ADMINISTRATION OF ITS SCHOOLS AND CAMPS.

A. PURPOSE AND SCOPE OF CCPA.

Before addressing the fatal flaws in the AG's Complaint, a discussion of the background and purpose of the CCPA is necessary. The CCPA "was enacted in 1974 and is a hybrid of the Uniform Consumer Credit Code and the National Consumer Act and some sections from then-existing West Virginia law." White v. Wyeth, 227 W.Va. 131, 136, 705 S.E.2d 828, 833 (2010) (citing Clendenin Lumber and Supply Co., Inc. v. Carpenter, 172 W.Va. 375, 379 n. 4, 305 S.E.2d 332, 336 n. 4 (1983)). "The dual legislative purpose underlying the CCPA is to protect consumers and promote sound and fair business practices." Id., 227 W.Va. at 139, 705 S.E.2d at 836. The CCPA "is a comprehensive attempt on the part of the West Virginia legislature to extend protection to consumers and persons who obtain credit in state." Harper v. Jackson Hewitt, Inc., 227 W.Va. 142, 151, 706 S.E.2d 63, 72 (2010).

The purpose of the CCPA is to protect consumers from unfair, unconscionable, fraudulent, and abusive practices of debt collectors. W.Va. Code §46A-1-101, et seq. Chevy Chase Bank v. McCamant, 512 S.E.2d 217, 204 W.Va. 295 (1998).

The Legislature, in enacting the CCPA, sought to eliminate the practice of including unconscionable terms in consumer agreements covered by the Act and, to further this purpose, the legislature created a cause of action for consumers and imposed civil liability on creditors who include unconscionable terms in consumer agreements. W.Va. Code §46A-1-101, et seq.; §46A-5-101(1); §46A-2-121; Arnold v. United Companies Lending Corp., 511 S.E.2d 854, 204 W.Va. 229 (1998).

It is well established that the AG has no common law authority and his power is limited to that granted by the Legislature. State ex rel. McGraw v. Scott Runyan Pontiac-Buick, Inc., 194 W.Va. 770, 777, 461 S.E.2d 516, 523 (1995). It is also well established that the AG's power granted through the CCPA is limited to consumer credit sales, consumer loans, or consumer leases, as noted above.

The fact that the CCPA is limited to the extension of credit to a consumer, or consumer transactions, was supported by the foremost expert in this area of the law, Professor Vincent Cardi. In his oft cited Law Review Article on the CCPA, Professor Cardi articulated the purposes of the CCPA, as follows:

The West Virginia Consumer Credit and Protection Act is intended to: (1) increase the availability of consumer credit by raising allowable finance charges (interest rates) and move toward equalization of rates available to consumers whether they borrow the money from a lender or buy the goods on credit from a seller; (2) regulate the rate of finance charges allowed for consumer credit transactions by prescribing rates and rules for computation; (3) regulate those businesses which make small consumer loans and which were formerly regulated by the small loan act; (4) protect consumers who purchase goods or services on credit or through consumer loans from deceptive selling techniques, unconscionable contract terms, and undesirable debt recovery and collection practices; and (5) protect consumers who purchase goods or services for cash or credit from, and to give them remedies for, defective or shoddy goods and services and unfair and deceptive selling practices.

V. Cardi, The West Virginia Consumer Credit and Protection Act, 77 W.Va. L. Rev. 401, 402 (1975).9

Since both parties agree that this succinct statement is a fair statement of the scope of the Act as it applies in this case, focusing on that succinct statement presents a clear picture of how far the Attorney General seeks to distort the purposes of the Act. As noted in that summary, it is intended to protect consumers who purchase goods or services from, and to give them remedies for, defective or shoddy goods and services and unfair and deceptive selling practices. The fundamental issue here is that nothing alleged in the Amended Complaint, and none of the predicate acts assert that the educational services provided by the Diocese are defective or shoddy. In point of fact, as noted in earlier responses, during the period covered by the Amended Complaint, Catholic Schools have enrolled approximately 326,000 students from a high of 48 schools to a current 26 schools. The Attorney General asserts no allegations that its educational services are defective or shoddy or that its specific selling practices are unfair or deceptive. In point of fact, the Diocese is not aware of any complaints or allegations that its educational services are defective or shoddy, or that it has charged for services it did not deliver, and its graduates have succeeded in academic, professional, and business careers throughout the period covered by the Amended Complaint. It is hard to imagine how one could have unfair and deceptive selling practices related to services which are neither defective nor shoddy.

The Circuit Court's analysis of the issues in this case are well reasoned and articulated. The trial court understood not only what the AG was seeking with this lawsuit, but also the momentous ramifications if the AG succeeds in taking control of the Church's communications with its faithful,

⁹ This article has been cited with approval by the W.V. Supreme Court in several decisions. See State ex rel. McGraw v. Scott Runyan Pontiac-Buick, Inc., 194 W.Va. 770, 780, 461 S.E.2d 516, 526 (1995); State ex rel. McGraw v. Bear, Stearns & Co., 217 W.Va. 573, 578, 618 S.E.2d 582, 587 (2005); State ex rel. Morrisey v. Copper Beech Townhome Communities Twenty-Six, LLC, 239 W.Va. 741, 744, 806 S.E.2d 172, 175 (2017).

as developed in Argument II below. Accordingly, the trial court correctly analyzed the AG's claims in the "... context of the overarching principle of avoiding excessive entanglement of government and religion embedded in the Constitutions of the United States and the State of West Virginia."

J.A. 287. The trial court was concerned with the "... substantial difficulties in fashioning an appropriate remedy which would be constitutionally benign and [was] mindful that a statute may be constitutional on its face yet unconstitutional in its application." J.A. 290. It is under this framework that the trial court's Order must be evaluated and upheld.

The trial court astutely recognized that the AG was prosecuting "... a religious entity, the Diocese, under a general consumer protection statute for acts, statements and omissions outside of any individual or commercial transaction, which the State's Attorney General deems violations of statutory provisions." J.A. 304. The trial court was correct in holding that Catholic School education and religious camps do not fall under the CCPA definition of "goods or services". This is particularly true because the AG's claims are not based upon specific individual or consumer transactions which can be covered by the CCPA.

 The AG's claims fail because the CCPA regulates specific individual and consumer transactions, not substantive educational and recreational services such as the Diocese's schools and camps.

The trial court correctly determined that the CCPA does not apply to substantive education and recreation services provided by the Diocese. J.A. 294-307. In his Brief, the AG concedes that Article 6 focuses on "consumer transactions." AG Brief, p. 15. However, his lawsuit against the Diocese does not involve consumer transactions. The AG cites not one consumer transaction that he finds deceptive, nor does he allege that any consumers have filed complaints. Rather, the AG seeks to regulate the Diocese's relationship with its parishioners under the guise of a false advertising claim based on substantive Catholic Church policy. In

(13)

short, the AG seeks to regulate the Diocese's communications with its parishioners and the manner in which it administers its safe environment program.

2. Diocese education and camps are not "services" under the CCPA.

In an effort to convince this Court that Catholic education and camps fall under the definition of "services", the AG misstates settled areas of law and ignores inconvenient words in statutes and definitions.

As a threshold matter, all three of the AG's claims are premised upon West Virginia Code §46A-6-104, which provides: "Unfair methods of competition and unfair or deceptive acts or practices in the conduct of any trade or commerce are hereby declared unlawful." Interestingly, the AG avoids the issue of whether religious primary and secondary schools or religious camps, all designed around faith information, actually can constitute a trade or commerce to be subject to such provisions. This is especially true when the alleged acts or practices are premised on the substantive policies of the religious organization related to activities specifically governed by another more detailed statutory structure, such as primary and secondary education.

The central question here is whether Catholic School education and camps fall under the meaning of the term "services" in the context of this case. In recognizing that Article 6 does not contain specific definitions of "services," this Court turned to the definition of the terms contained in Article 1 in the CCPA's general definitions section. State ex rel. Morrisey v. Copper Beech Townhome Communities Twenty-Six, LLC, 239 W.Va. 741, 750, 806 S.E.2d 172, 181 (2017). In Article 1, the term "Services" includes: (a) work, labor and other personal services; (b) privileges with respect to transportation, use of vehicles, hotel and restaurant accommodations, education, entertainment, recreation, physical culture, hospital

accommodations, funerals, cemetery accommodations, and the like; and (c) insurance." W.Va. Code §46A-1-102(7). Although the definition of the term "services" includes the language "privileges with respect to . . . education", the phrase is broad, ambiguous and undefined. "Undefined words and terms used in a legislative enactment will be given their common, ordinary and accepted meaning." Syl. Pt. 4, Osborne v. United States, 211 W. Va. 667, 567 S.E.2d 677 (2002). 10

With respect to the present issue, the CCPA mentions "education" only five times, most notably in the section on debt collection (Article 2 of the CCPA). Outside of the specific reference in the debt collection section, "education" is included in the definition of "services" contained in the general definitions section of Article 1 of the CCPA. The statutory language of the deceptive practices provision contained in Article 6 of the CCPA does not mention "education." If the Legislature intended for the unlawful acts or practices provisions of the CCPA to apply to education, and in particular, private, parochial or church schools, or schools of a religious order, it would have done so explicitly (as it did with respect to the collection of educational loans in Article 2 of the CCPA). The trial court recognized that the AG was trying to expand the definition of "services" when it stated that the Church's position regarding the definition is more persuasive. J.A. 295.

¹⁰ The definition of the term "Services" cannot expand the scope of the CCPA beyond its clearly intended purpose so the phrase "privileges with respect to...education" must be interpreted in light of that purpose of scope. *Cf. Whitman v. Am. Trucking Ass'ns.*, 531 U.S. 457, 468 (2001) (Congress... does not alter the fundamental details of a regulatory scheme in vague term or ancillary provisions – it does not, one might say, "hide elephants in mouse holes").

¹¹ The only specific power over education granted to the AG by the CCPA is that which authorized the AG to establish programs regarding the education of consumers and it is not relevant to the AG's Complaint. W.Va. Code §46A-7-102(c). The other four references are: W.Va. Code §46A-2-128(c) (collection of attorney fees on delinquent education loans); W.Va. Code §46A-2-103 (reference to federal higher education Act); W.Va. Code §46A-2-138 (return of fees of correspondence educational course); and W.Va. Code §46A-6-102 (definition of "services).

The AG also takes the term "recreation" in the CCPA and gives it a very broad meaning. Without authority, the AG simply states that recreation means camps. On the contrary, the plain meaning of the word "recreation" is not that broad. According to Webster's Online Dictionary, "Recreation" means "refreshment of strength and spirits after work also: a means of refreshment or diversion: HOBBY." Nothing in the definition indicates that religious based summer camps fall under the definition of recreation. The AG's unsupported statement that recreation means religious summer camps is simply further proof that the AG must stretch the CCPA beyond its intended boundaries to pursue this lawsuit against the Church.

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